IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

QUEEN CITY NURSING CENTER, INC., COMMUNITY LIVING CENTERS, LLC d/b/a Meridian Community Living Center, and BEVERLY ENTERPRISES -MISSISSIPPI, INC. d/b/a Golden Living Center - Meridian

APPELLANTS

V.

NO. 2010-SA-01077

MISSISSIPPI STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH and MEADOWBROOK HEALTH & REHAB, LLC

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE HINDS CHANCERY COURT, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

BRIEF FOR APPELLANTS

OF COUNSEL:

Thomas L. Kirkland, Jr. (MSF Allison C. Simpson (MSB Andy Lowry (MSB COPELAND, COOK, TAYLOR & BUSH, P.A. Post Office Box 6020

Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158 Telephone: (601) 856-7200

Facsimile: (601) 856-8242

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Courts generally defer to an agency's fact-finding. Here, the State Health Officer rejected her hearing officer's detailed findings and conclusions, with no explanation other than adopting a staff analysis based simply on taking the application at its word. Does a heightened standard of review apply to this case?
- II. The most important criterion for granting a Certificate of Need ("CON") is need for the project. The hearing proved that Lauderdale County has an oversupply of nursing-home beds, while Kemper County is underbedded. Should the State Health Officer have issued a CON to move 21 beds from underbedded Kemper County to overbedded Lauderdale County, in violation of agency policy?
- III. The present CON application was found by the hearing officer to merit disapproval based on its noncompliance with several agency criteria. Given that the State Health Officer failed to explain why any of these findings were incorrect, was she arbitrary and capricious in simply granting the CON anyway?
- IV. A statutory moratorium forbids "new construction" of nursing homes, although the Department adheres to an Attorney General's opinion allowing some narrow exceptions to that ban. Did the State Health Officer err in granting a CON for a newly-constructed nursing home that met none of those exceptions? (Alternatively: since when may an agency allow exceptions to statutes?)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As the foregoing statement of the issues demonstrates, this case involves not only a blatant example of the Mississippi State Department of Health's ignoring its own need criteria, but also important questions of administrative law.

I. Course of Proceedings Below.

There are presently seven nursing homes in Lauderdale County. R.E. 5 at 2. In January 2009, a would-be eighth applied to the Mississippi State Department of Health for a Certificate of Need ("CON"). R.E. 5 at 2. This applicant, Meadowbrook Health & Rehab, LLC, is owned by Bruce Kelly, who also owns and operates one of the seven existing facilities, Poplar Springs Nursing & Rehab. R.E. 5 at 2. Meadowbrook's application to build a new 60-bed nursing home was labeled as a relocation of 39 beds from Poplar Springs, *and* as the replacement of 21 beds from the no-longer-operating Kemper Homeplace Nursing Facility, which until it discharged all its residents in November 2005 had been one of only two nursing homes in Kemper County. R.E. 5 at 1-3.

In a review confined to the face of the application itself, the application was recommended for approval by the Department's staff in an April 2009 staff analysis. R.E. 4. The present Appellants, which operate three nursing homes in Lauderdale County, timely requested a hearing during the course of review, being "affected persons" under the CON Review Manual and governing statutes. R.E. 5 at 2. Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-197(2) requires the Department to afford affected persons a hearing before a

hearing officer, who is to consider the evidence and present a recommendation to the State Health Officer, who then makes the final decision.

At a three-day hearing in September 2009, each side was afforded the opportunity to present evidence and testimony, totaling ten witnesses and seventy-one recorded exhibits. In January 2010, the hearing officer, Cassandra Walter, Esq., recommended to the State Health Officer that Meadowbrook's application be disapproved. R.E. 5. The hearing officer determined, based on the evidence presented at the hearing, that the staff analysis was incorrect and that the application did not comply with the controlling 2009 State Health Plan ("the Plan") or with the CON Review Manual, as revised February 23, 2008 (the "CON Manual"), the rules and procedures of the Department, or the governing statutes. R.E. 5.

Regardless, on February 11, 2010, the State Health Officer issued her final order rejecting the hearing officer's recommendation and stating she "concurs with and adopts the staff's findings and recommendation," that is, the staff analysis. R.E. 6. Nowhere did the State Health Officer address the reasoning or evidence set forth by the hearing officer, or set forth any additional reasons for rejecting the hearing officer's recommendation and the hearing evidence in favor of the staff analysis. R.E. 6.

On February 26, Appellants timely appealed to Hinds Chancery Court per Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-201(2)(f), but that court affirmed the Department's order on June 10,

¹See the Department's file in the record, contained in three binders, which includes the application, the hearing officer's recommendation, the final order, and the hearing exhibits.

2010. R.E. 2. The chancery court (Thomas, J.) found that the Department's final order was reached after "much consideration" of the hearing testimony and exhibits, though the court did not cite to any record evidence to that effect. R.E. 2 at 6-7. Nowhere did the chancery court's analysis take into account the failure of the State Health Officer's final order to state any basis for disagreement with the hearing officer's recommendation, or indeed, to make any independent findings whatsoever.

From that decision, Appellants timely filed their notice of appeal to this Court on July 2, 2010.

II. Relevant Facts.

Nursing homes, like most health-care facilities in Mississippi, are subject to the CON law, so that before building or relocating a nursing home, or changing its bed complement, one must first obtain a CON. Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-191.

The present applicant, Meadowbrook, is owned by the same Bruce Kelly who owns and operates the Poplar Springs nursing home in Lauderdale County. R.E. 5 at 2. When the Kemper Homeplace nursing home in Kemper was shut down² in November 2005, Poplar Springs paid \$280,000 for Kemper Homeplace's authority for its 21 beds, but not for any physical facility, equipment, or medical supplies. T.133-34, 181.³ In February 2006, the Department accordingly transferred the 21 beds to Poplar Springs,

²No one then operating Kemper Homeplace is a party to this case, so the "immediate jeopardy" findings that preceded the closing need not detain us here. See hearing ex. 10.

³The transcript of the Department's hearing is cited as "T._"; pages cited are reproduced at R.E. 8.

which placed them in abeyance, meaning they could not be used but incurred no Medicaid tax. T.48-49, 53-54.

Poplar Springs then bought in June 2007 (for \$440,000) the land on which Meadowbrook proposes to build its new nursing home. R.E. 5 at 3. Meadowbrook filed a CON application in June 2007 very much like the present project, but decided to withdraw that application before the State Health Officer ruled on it. R.E. 5 at 3.

A. The Application and Staff Analysis.

Like the June 2007 attempt, the present application proposes to "replace and relocate" the 21 beds acquired from Kemper Homeplace and held by Poplar Springs and to "relocate" 39 other beds held by Poplar Springs. Thus, Poplar Springs joined in the CON application "to the fullest extent necessary" as the owner of all the beds and of the land on which Meadowbrook's new facility (to be named Northpointe) would be constructed. R.E. 5 at 2 n.1.

The necessity for calling this eighth nursing home a relocation/replacement/relocation was the Legislature's moratorium on new nursing-home construction:

The State Department of Health shall not grant approval for or issue a certificate of need to any person proposing the **new construction of,** addition to, or expansion of any health care facility defined in subparagraphs (iv) (skilled nursing facility) and (vi) (intermediate care facility) of Section 41-7-173(h)

Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-191(2) (emphasis added). The definition referred to therein of "skilled nursing facility" is "an institution or a distinct part of an institution which is

primarily engaged in providing to inpatients skilled nursing care," etc. *Id.* at § 41-7-173(h)(iv).⁴

Meadowbrook was proposing to build a nursing home where none existed, without closing down the facility from which the beds were acquired, and which would increase the number of nursing homes in Lauderdale County from seven to eight. R.E. 5 at 3. The application further described the project as "an all-private-room, state-of-the-art facility." T.57.

The staff analysis, which relied upon the claims presented in the application itself (CON Manual at ch. 3, § 114.01), nowhere considered the moratorium or whether the project might in fact be "new construction." R.E. 4. It made no findings at all as to the applicable law. R.E.4. It did refer to the Plan's figures showing a need for 19 additional beds in Lauderdale County as opposed to only two beds needed in Kemper County. R.E. 4 at 3. It also noted that "according to Meadowbrook" alternatives such as renovating Poplar Springs had been considered but did not "seem[] as effective." R.E. 4 at 4. Somewhat mysteriously, this renovation was also asserted to be likely to "result in

⁴At one time, that statute made an express exception for "making additions to or expansion or replacement of the existing facility, in order to increase the number of its beds to not more than sixty (60) beds," but that portion of the statute was repealed before the present application was filed. See City of Durant v. Humphreys County Mem'l Hosp., 587 So. 2d 244, 246-47 (Miss. 1991) (discussing moratorium as it then existed).

⁵By any civilized standard, the staff analysis should have lost all credibility by its referring to "Poplar Springs" throughout as "Popular Springs."

substantial cost," although no figure was given to contrast with the \$5,168,500 proposed capital expenditure for building Meadowbrook's new 60-bed facility. R.E. 4 at 9.

B. The Hearing Officer's Analysis and Recommendation.

At the hearing obtained by Appellants, evidence was put on concerning the facts underlying the application, including the testimony of Bruce Kelly and of Donald Eicher, head of the Department's planning division which had produced the staff analysis. The hearing officer, having heard the testimony and reviewed the exhibits, issued her findings of fact, conclusions of law, and recommendation to the State Health Officer: she disagreed with the staff analysis and recommended disapproval of the project. R.E. 5.

First, she found no showing of any need to relocate any nursing-home beds. R.E. 5 at 6. Testifying for the Department, Eicher admitted that it was Department policy to disapprove a relocation that sought to move beds from a county in greater need to one in lesser need of beds. T.17-18. The hearing officer also noted that, using the Department's own licensure statistics, the actual number of beds in Lauderdale County (even excluding the 21 beds bought from Kemper Homeplace) was 602, not 572. R.E. 5 at 11. Again, Eicher admitted that the Department's licensure division, not his own planning department, "would know more about the actual number of licensed beds in Lauderdale County." T.68. Using the 602 figure, Lauderdale County was overbedded by 11 beds (again, not even counting the Kemper Homeplace beds). R.E. 5 at 12. The discrepancy became even more gross if the 228 beds at the R.P. White mental health nursing facility in Lauderdale County were considered, which Appellants' expert Dr. John Hyde testified

should be done for health-planning purposes because R.P. White competes for patients with the other nursing homes. R.E. 5 at 11. With or without the R.P. White beds, however, the hearing officer found that, given the Department's confessed policy against relocating from a county with greater need to one with lesser need, there was *no* need to move beds from Kemper to Lauderdale. R.E. 5 at 12.

The hearing officer also rejected as not credible the claim that Bruce Kelly made "any good faith effort" to consider alternatives like reopening the 21 beds in Kemper County or opening them at Poplar Springs: "I do not believe the Applicant considered less costly or perhaps more effective alternatives for utilizing these 21 beds ..." (emphasis added). R.E. 5 at 13. She noted the lack of documentary evidence of any such consideration, the fact that Kelly never even asked an architect what it would cost to expand Poplar Springs by 21 beds, and the absence in the application of any figure for the allegedly "substantial cost" of such an expansion. R.E. 5 at 12-13.

Finding also that the application failed to demonstrate financial feasibility (R.E. 5 at 13-16), or to promote the general objectives mandated by the State Health Plan – in particular, the project threatened both unnecessary duplication and a failure to contain costs (R.E. 5 at 17-18) – the hearing officer then went on to consider the Legislature's moratorium on construction of new nursing homes. R.E. 5 at 19-22. Looking to the Department's own definition of "construction," the hearing officer found that the project was neither the replacement of an existing facility, nor the relocation of an existing facility, nor the relocation of beds from one facility to another already-existing facility;

that the Department had requested at the time of the previous Meadowbrook application.

R.E. 5 at 20; see R.E. 7 (Attorney General opinion). The hearing officer did not dispute the cogency of the June 2008 opinion, but found that its stated exceptions simply did not apply to Meadowbrook's project. R.E. 5 at 21. Therefore, she concluded, the project violated the moratorium and could not be approved. R.E. 5 at 22.

The hearing officer submitted her 23-page recommendation to the State Health Officer on January 11, 2010. R.E. 5.

C. The State Health Officer's Final Order.

One month later, on February 11, the State Health Officer issued her final order, asserting the conclusion that the application complied with the Department's standards. R.E. 6. A fill-in-the-blank form attached to the final order said that the State Health Officer "[c]oncurs with and adopts the staff's findings and recommendation." R.E. 6. This form's language also said that "It is the intent of the State Health Officer, after considering the Department's plans, standards and criteria; staff's analysis; hearing officer's recommendation, if any [sic], and making written findings, that the proposed be Approved" — that last word being presented as typed into a blank. R.E. 6 (emphasis added). Thus, Meadowbrook won its CON. Nowhere did the final order present any reasoning as to why the project did not violate the moratorium or why the hearing officer's recommendation was rejected. Nowhere did the final order explain why it was adopting the staff analysis's findings as to bed need, availability of alternatives, financial

feasibility, or compliance with the State Health Plan's general goals, when those findings had been deemed not credible by the hearing officer.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The State Health Officer granted Meadowbrook a CON for a new nursing home in Lauderdale County despite her hearing officer's finding that, among other issues, there was no need to move 21 beds from Kemper County to Lauderdale. The final order should be reversed.

First, this Court should examine the final order under a heightened standard of review. Although the State Health Officer is not bound to accept or defer to the interlocutory findings of the Department's independent hearing officer, numerous courts have held that an agency owes some explanation of its basis for rejecting such findings. In the present case, there was no such explanation and no separate opinion at all by the State Health Officer, who merely adopted a staff analysis that had been proved erroneous at the hearing. Also, when the Department farmed out the interpretation of the CON law to an Attorney General's opinion, it forfeited the usual deference owed to its experienced interpretation of its governing statutes.

Second, the evidence at the hearing proved that there was *no* evidence that Meadowbrook's project moved beds from a county with lesser need to one with greater need, which is the only direction in which the Department will allow nursing-home beds to be relocated. Meadowbrook's own expert admitted that Lauderdale County is overbedded, and there was no dispute that Kemper County is underbedded. It was arbitrary and capricious for the State Health Officer to issue the CON with no evidence that the Department's need policy was met.

Third, the evidence at the hearing satisfied the hearing officer that Meadowbrook failed to seriously consider available alternatives to building a new facility; failed to comply with the State Health Plan's objectives; and failed to provide necessary evidence of economic viability. The State Health Officer did not state any reason why these findings were incorrect, and thus it was arbitrary and capricious for her to grant the CON despite such negative evidentiary findings.

Fourth and last, the Legislature by statute has forbidden "new construction" of nursing home facilities, but the State Health Officer issued a CON for Meadowbrook to do just that. Leaving aside whether the Attorney General opinion on which the Department relies is really correct in stating exceptions to the moratorium, the hearing officer easily found that none of those alleged exceptions applied to Meadowbrook's project. The State Health Officer's order granting the CON was contrary to law and must be reversed on that basis as well.

ARGUMENT

I. A Heightened Standard of Review Is Necessary in This Case.

Two issues affect the standard of review in this case: the State Health Officer's summary rejection of the hearing officer's recommendation, and the Department's adoption of an Attorney General opinion regarding the statutory moratorium on new construction of nursing homes.

In typical cases, the standard of review of a final order of the Department is controlled by Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-201(2)(f), which provides in part:

[t]he Order shall not be vacated or set aside, either in whole or in part, except for errors of law, unless the Court finds that the Order is not supported by substantial evidence, is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence, is in excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction [Department], or violates any vested constitutional rights of any party involved in the appeal. ...

(emphasis added). This statute is "nothing more than a statutory restatement of familiar limitations upon the scope of judicial review of administrative agency decisions." *Miss. State Dep't of Health v. Natchez Cmty. Hosp.*, 743 So. 2d 973, 976 (Miss. 1999) (citation omitted). "Substantial evidence" must be "more than a scintilla." *Id.* A decision made "without substantial evidence" is one which is "arbitrary and capricious." *Id.*

An administrative agency's decision is arbitrary when it is not done according to reason and judgment, but depending on the will alone. An action is capricious if done without reason, in a whimsical manner, implying either a lack of understanding of or disregard for the surrounding facts and settled controlling principles.

Id.

Because this Court reviews the agency's decision, not the chancellor's, it does not defer to the chancellor's decision on appeal from the agency, but reviews the chancery court's decision de novo. *Miss. State Dep't of Health v. Miss. Baptist Med. Ctr.*, 663 So. 2d 563, 574 (Miss. 1995).

While the burden of proof rests with the party challenging agency action, *Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Marquez*, 774 So. 2d 421, 425 (Miss. 2000), the reviewing court "must look at the full record before it in deciding whether the agency's findings were supported by substantial evidence," and in its review, "it is not relegated to wearing blinders." *Id.* at 427. This Court's review for substantial evidence "should properly consider the general CON requirements as set forth in the State Health Plan in evaluating the competing proposals." *Cain v. Miss. State Dep't of Health*, 767 So. 2d 207, 212 (Miss. 2000).

As for errors of law, those are reviewed de novo in administrative appeals. Dialysis Solution, LLC v. Miss. State Dep't of Health, 31 So. 3d 1204, 1211 (Miss. 2009). This Court has typically given deferential consideration to agency interpretations of their governing statutes, on the following basis:

This duty of deference derives from our realization that the everyday experience of the administrative agency gives it familiarity with the particularities and nuances of the problems committed to its care which no court can hope to replicate.

Gill v. Miss. Dep't of Wildlife Conserv., 574 So. 2d 586, 593 (Miss. 1990) (emphasis added). Of course, "whatever the precise content of [this Court's] duty of deference, it has no material force where agency action is contrary to the statutory language." *Id*.

So much for the typical standard of review. Appellants now go on to show that this standard may be heightened where the facts warrant, and that the facts in this case warrant such heightened scrutiny.

A. Heightened Scrutiny May Be Applied to Agency Decisions.

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