**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI**

**QUEEN CITY NURSING CENTER, INC.,  
COMMUNITY LIVING CENTERS, LLC d/b/a  
MERIDIAN COMMUNITY LIVING CENTER, and  
BEVERLY ENTERPRISES – MISSISSIPPI, INC. d/b/a  
GOLDERN LIVINGCENTER – MERIDIAN**

**APPELLANTS**

**VS.**

**CAUSE NO: 2010-SA-01077**

**MISSISSIPPI STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH and  
MEADOWBROOK HEALTH AND REHAB, LLC**

**APPELLEES**

**APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF  
THE HINDS CHANCERY COURT, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT**

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE THE MISSISSIPPI STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH**

---

Of Counsel:

Bea M. Tolsdorf, MSB No. [REDACTED]  
Special Assistant Attorney General  
Mississippi State Department of Health

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

**B. The Final Order of MSDH is Supported by Substantial Evidence and Is Not Contrary to the Manifest Weight of the Evidence.**

In presenting their application and CON proposal, Meadowbrook supplied MSDH with ample evidence to support approval of the requested CON. "Substantial evidence is 'something less than a preponderance of the evidence but more than a scintilla or a glimmer. The reviewing court is concerned only with the reasonableness of the administrative order, not its correctness.'" *Sierra Club v. Mississippi Environmental Quality Permit Board*, 943 So.2d 673, 678 (Miss. 2006)(quoting *Miss. Dep't of Env'tl.*

*Quality v. Weems*, 653 So.2d 266, 280-281(Miss. 1995)). The factual and evidentiary support provided by Meadowbrook clearly demonstrated to MSDH that the project proposed substantially complied with the requirements set forth in the Certificate of Need Laws, 2009 State Health Plan and the Certificate of Need Manual. In its Brief, Meadowbrook fully addresses how the project proposed satisfies all requirements necessary for CON approval. MSDH has joined into the Brief submitted by Meadowbrook and adopts all legal and equitable arguments contained therein; and therefore, in the interest of brevity, MSDH would direct the Court to the Meadowbrook Brief for a full analysis of project compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations.

**C. The Final Order of the MSDH is Not Arbitrary or Capricious.**

“An agency decision is ‘arbitrary’ if “it is not done according to reason and judgment, but depending on the will alone.” *Case v. Public Employees’ Retirement System*, 973 So.2d 301, 311 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (quoting *Miss. State Dep’t of Health v. Natchez Cmty. Hosp.*, 743 So.2d 973, 977(¶13)(Miss. 1999)). “A ‘capricious’ decision is ‘done without reason, in a standing of or disregard for the surrounding facts and settled controlling principles.’” *Id @ 311*. The Final Order issued by MSDH in this matter is not arbitrary or capricious. MSDH has interpreted the Moratorium contained in §41-7-191(2) to prohibit the agency from issuing a CON for the establishment of new beds or for the establishment of new or additional skilled nursing facilities; not to prohibit MSDH from issuing a CON to repair, replace or rebuild a facility which will require no new beds. This has been the interpretation and policy of MSDH since 1990 and MSDH has uniformly enforced the moratorium in that manner since that time. The SHO determined

that the facts and evidence presented established that no new beds and no additional skilled nursing facilities were being created and thus the Moratorium did not apply to this project. The decision of the SHO was well-reasoned, based on the substantial evidence and deferred to the long-standing practice of MSDH; therefore, her decision cannot be said to be arbitrary or capricious nor an error of law.

**II. The Request for an Official Attorney General Opinion made by the Mississippi State Department of Health in this Matter has No Effect on the Deference Shown to Final Orders of the Mississippi State Department of Health.**

As outlined in **Section I.** above, according to *Clay v. Epps*, 19 So.3d 745 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007), and §41-7-201(2)(f), the Final Order of the SHO in this matter may *only* be reversed if the decision violates the law, is unsupported by substantial evidence, is beyond the legal authority of the administrative agency or violates some constitutional right of an aggrieved party. This is the standard of review to be applied in this matter. In the present case, the decision of the SHO does not “fit” any of the delineated grounds for reversal; and therefore her decision must stand. In the brief submitted by the Opponents, it is suggested that this Court should ignore the statutorily prescribed standard of review simply because MSDH invoked its legally established right to seek out an Attorney General’s Opinion on an issue effecting the Agency. To find that MSDH essentially waived *all* deference due its interpretation of statutes under which it operates, simply by asking for an Official Attorney General Opinion would prove to be an infringement on the rights of the State Agency to counsel. Additionally, such a holding could have grave legal consequences for the State of Mississippi.

The acting Attorney General for the State of Mississippi serves as the legal counsel for the state. Specifically, “[h]e shall be the chief legal officer and advisor for

the state . . .” Mississippi Code Annotated §7-5-1(1972, as amended). As Chief Legal Counsel, the Attorney General shall provide legal advice to his clients—the State Agencies and State Officers—when such is requested. Mississippi Code Annotated §7-5-25 states in pertinent part, “[t]he Attorney General *shall* give his opinion in writing, without fee, to . . . the State Board of Health, . . . when requested in writing, upon any question of law relating to their respective offices.” (1972, as amended)(*Emphasis Added*). This same provision goes on to state:

When any officer, board, commission, department or person authorized by this section to require such written opinion of the Attorney General shall have done so and shall have stated all the facts to govern such opinion, and the Attorney General has prepared and delivered a legal opinion with reference thereto, **there shall be no liability, civil or criminal, accruing to or against any such officer, board, commission, department or person who, in good faith, follows the direction of such opinion and acts in accordance therewith . . .**” (*Id.*)(*Emphasis Added*).

Therefore, when a State Agency or a State Officer is faced with a decision or dilemma in which it would be prudent to obtain legal counsel, such advice and counsel may be sought from the acting Attorney General and his staff. The right to counsel for a State Agency does not, and should not, come at the cost of the deference a State Agency or State Officer is shown when its interpretation of a statute under which it operates is challenged. State Agencies and State Officer have the right to legal counsel—as evidenced by §7-5-25. Additionally, when the decisions of State Agencies or State Officers are reviewed by the Courts of this state, Courts must give such decisions the limited review outlined in *Clay* and great deference. *Ricks*, 719 So.2d at 177 (holding, “[t]his Court is bound . . . to give due deference to the factual finding of the administrative agency and to the chancellor who adopted the same findings.”).

The right to legal counsel and the right to deference are two unrelated issues and are not mutually exclusive. Simply put, MSDH may ask its attorney for legal advice and counsel on a particular issue and still be afforded deference on that issue if challenged in the court system. To hold otherwise, would cause State Agencies and State Officers to question the necessity of obtaining legal counsel, and to make crucial decisions that could be potentially legally unsound—all for fear that a waiver of deference would occur if such a request were made. Decision-making by the appointed authority of a state agency regarding the administration of its statutory charge without legal consultation on that administrative law could prove to be a practice that creates liability and financial exposure for the State of Mississippi. In short, the Opponent's position on this issue is impractical and presents poor public policy.

In the matter before this Court, MSDH choose to invoke its right to counsel and requested an Official Opinion from the Attorney General on the moratorium issue. Specifically, MSDH wanted to ensure that the manner by which it had interpreted the moratorium—an interpretation that has been in place for nearly two (2) decades without conflict—was accurate and legally sound. Therefore, unlike the Opponents would have this Court believe, MSDH did not look to the Attorney General to decide how it should enforce the moratorium; it looked to the Attorney General to make sure that their enforcement was proper. Mississippi case law and §41-201(2)(f) clearly provide what the standard of review in this matter must be; and the request for an Official Attorney General Opinion by MSDH has no effect on that standard nor on the deference shown to the Final Order of the SHO.

**III. The Final Order of the SHO Corresponds with the Official Attorney General Opinion and the Long Standing Interpretation of the Moratorium by the MSDH.**

In June 2008, the Mississippi Attorney General's Office issued an official Opinion to Dr. F. E. Thompson, Jr. MD, MPH, who was the State Health Officer for Mississippi at the time. In the official request for an opinion submitted by MSDH on May 23, 2008, Dr. Thompson posed four (4) questions to the Attorney General, three (3) of which are relevant to this project. First, "[d]oes MSDH have the authority to issue a CON for the replacement of an existing nursing home or intermediate care facility." (Request for Opinion) (RE 4 @ Page 2). Second, "[d]oes MSDH have the authority to issue a CON for the relocation of an existing nursing home or intermediate facility?" (Request for Opinion) (RE 4 @ Page 2). And lastly, "[d]oes MSDH have the authority to issue a CON for the relocation of existing nursing home beds from one facility to a *proposed* replacement facility where the Applicant needs such beds to meet the minimum 60 bed requirement or to increase the total beds of the facility for other considerations such as efficient operations or meeting projected need?" (Request for Opinion) (RE 4 @ Page 3)(*Emphasis Added*).

Prior to issuing his official opinion on the issues presented, the Attorney General provides some historical comment on the long-standing interpretation of moratorium by MSDH and the Mississippi State Supreme Court,

The relevant statute, 41-7-191, establishes a Moratorium on the issuance of CONs for new construction of, addition to, or expansion of skilled nursing or intermediate care facilities. The Mississippi State Department of Health has interpreted, and the Mississippi Supreme Court has deferred to such interpretation, that where the Moratorium refers to the new construction of, addition to, or expansion of facilities, it actually bars the creation of new beds as

made available through such facilities. (Attorney General's Opinion-June 13, 2008)(RE 5@ Page 2).

In response to the inquiries made by MSDH, the Attorney General opined, "[w]ith respect to your first inquiry, this office is of the opinion that the Mississippi Department of Health may properly issue a CON for the replacement of an existing nursing home or intermediate care facility, so long as the replacement facility does not create new beds." (Attorney General's Opinion-June 13, 2008)(RE 5 @ Page 2). With regard to whether or not the Department may issue a CON that would authorize the relocation of a facility, the Attorney General stated; "... relocation is similarly subject to the number of requirements imposed on replacement: there must be no new available beds after the relocation, else the Moratorium is violated." (Attorney General's Opinion-June 13, 2008)(RE 5 @ Page 2).

Regarding the final issue presented to the Attorney General, he stated, "... the Department of Health is authorized to issue Certificates of Need in the relocations described in your fourth inquiry." (Attorney General's Opinion-June 13, 2008)(RE 5 @ Page 3).

In its Brief, the Opponent contends that the Attorney General Opinion discussed above is inapplicable to the project proposed in the CON application presently before this Court. "Therefore, even on the exception stated in the June 2008 opinion, the Meadowbrook project does not qualify, in whole or in part, for an exception to the §41-7-191(2) moratorium. MSDH thus acted contrary to law when it issued the CON in this case . . ." *Brief of Opponents* at 39. MSDH wholly disagrees with this analysis. The project proposed by Meadowbrook and approved by the SHO falls within three of the

factual situations set forth in the request made by MSDH to the Attorney General and the response and opinion thereto.

First, the Attorney General found that an *existing* skilled nursing facility could be replaced. Kemper *is* an existing skilled nursing facility according to the CON laws. A closed skilled nursing facility is not considered a *new* facility upon reopening unless that facility has been closed sixty (60) months or more and has no authority to reopen. At the time of CON approval, Kemper had been closed less than sixty months and therefore, is an *existing facility*.

Second, the Attorney General stated that a skilled nursing facility may be relocated. Kemper is an existing skilled nursing facility and may therefore relocate; however, “. . . there must be no new available beds after the relocation, else the Moratorium is violated.” (Attorney General’s Opinion-June 13, 2008)(RE 5 @ Page 2).

With regard to the fourth situation outlined by the Attorney General, the Opponents state, “. . . this does not apply here either, as the proposed Meadowbrook facility is not ‘already existing.’” *Brief of the Opponents @ Page 39*. In the Official Request for an Opinion, MSDH provides the factual scenario concerning this CON to the Attorney General,

In other words, all *construction* of a *new* or replacement nursing home must include at least 60 beds. In the event that MSDH receives an application for the replacement of a nursing homes having less than 60 beds, MSDH usually addresses it by relocating a sufficient number of existing authorized beds from another facility, or facilities, so that the proposed *new* or replacement facility will meet this 60 bed requirement. (Request for Opinion.)(RE 4 @ Page 2) (*Emphasis Added*).

In the first sentence, MSDH illustrates for the Attorney General that a replacement facility may be “constructed”; it may be “new.” In his conclusion, regarding issue four, the Attorney General states, “[i]t is the opinion of this office that the Mississippi State Department of Health has the authority to issue a CON for . . . (4) the relocation of existing nursing home beds from one facility to a *proposed* replacement site. (Attorney General’s Opinion-June 13, 2008)(RE 5 @ Page 3-4)(*Emphasis Added*). Therefore, when the Attorney General uses the term “already-existing location,” it can be inferred, by looking at the opinion in its entirety, that this means a facility that *is or is to be* used as the replacement facility. It does not prohibit a new building from being constructed to house the replacement facility.

The Attorney General interprets §41-7-191(2) to prohibit the creation of new beds; it does not prohibit a facility from (i) repairing an existing physical plant, (ii) replacing an existing physical plant with a new building at a different site and relocating the facility and its beds to such new building and (iii) relocating existing beds from another facility to the “proposed replacement site” in order to comply with the 60-bed minimum rule. “The Court merely applied the language of the Moratorium, as interpreted by the Department of Health: though a replacement facility may not violate the Moratorium, any facility that creates new beds is not permissible under 41-7-191(2).” (Attorney General’s Opinion-June 13, 2008)(RE 5 @ Page 3). The SHO and the Attorney General interpret the language contained in §41-7-191(2) in the same manner; therefore the decision of the SHO cannot be said to be repugnant to the plain meaning of the statute, nor can the decision of the SHO be considered to be arbitrary or capricious. Further, the fact that the Attorney General Opinion is in agreement with the SHO

evidences that the decision of the SHO was *not* made in plain error or in a manner that is inconsistent with the law; and therefore, her decision should be given great deference as required by law.